1995

Melvin Grossgold and Bruce Manka v. James C. Ziter : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

Jurisdiction in this appeal is conferred upon the Utah Court of Appeals pursuant to U.C.A. §78-2a -3(k).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Did the trial court error in dismissing plaintiffs' Amended Complaint as a matter of law?

Standard of Review: The propriety of a Rule 12(b)(6) dismissal is a question of law, and the appellate court gives the trial court's ruling no deference and reviews it under a correctness standard. St. Benedicts Development Co. v. St. Benedicts Hospital, 811 P.2d 194 (Utah 1991). When reviewing a judgment entered on a Motion to Dismiss under Rule 12(b)(6), the Court of Appeals is obliged to construe the Complaint in the light most favorable to the plaintiff and to indulge all reasonable inferences in plaintiffs' favor. Heiner v. S.J. Groves & Sons Co., 790 P.2d 107 (Utah App. 1990).

Issue Preserved: This issue is implicit in the Court's ruling. Plaintiff's trial memoranda on the subject are at R.57 and R.95.

CONTROLLING CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES OR RULES

The appellant is aware of no constitutional provision, statute, ordinance or rule whose interpretation is determinative of any of the issues in this litigation.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiffs initiated this action seeking a determination that the defendant had breached express warranties contained in an Earnest Money Sales Agreement ("EMSA"). In the EMSA, the seller expressly warranted that "the plumbing, heating. . . system. . . shall be sound or in satisfactory working condition at closing." After acquiring the property, the plaintiffs discovered deficiencies in the plumbing and heating systems which were not discoverable prior to closing, and included leaking sewer, water and heat distribution lines within the walls and under the floors of the apartment building. Plaintiffs seek recovery of damages arising out of the defendant seller's breach of these express warranties.

The defendant brought a Motion to Dismiss the Complaint asserting that the express warranties in the earnest money had been disclaimed. The District Court dismissed the Complaint and awarded the defendant attorney's fees and costs.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

1. In June, 1992, the plaintiffs and the defendant James C. Ziter, entered into an Earnest Money Sales Agreement ("EMSA"). A copy of the EMSA is included in the Addendum.¹ (Para. 2, plaintiffs' proposed Amended Complaint and para. 2 of plaintiffs' Complaint; R.50, 3; the EMSA is at R.6).

¹ Since the time of the District Court's Order dismissing this action, plaintiffs have discovered that there were in fact two EMSA's, one signed by Bruce W. Manka on June 2, 1992 and one signed by Melvin Grossgold also dated June 2, 1992. The earnest monies are otherwise identical. Both of the earnest monies are attached in the Addendum.

2. The real property described in the EMSA is an apartment building located at 234 East 100 South, Salt Lake City, commonly known as the Hollywood Apartments. (Para. 3 of the Complaint and proposed Amended Complaint; R.3, 50).

3. As part of the EMSA (General Provision ¶C) Ziter, as the seller, expressly warranted that ". . . the plumbing, heating, air conditioning, and ventilating systems, electrical systems and appliances shall be sound or in satisfactory working condition at closing." (Para. 4 of the Complaint and proposed Amended Complaint; R.3, 8, 50).

4. Additional language in the EMSA provides as follows:

1. PROPERTY DESCRIPTION. . . .

(a) Included Items. . . .

(b) Excluded Items. . . .

(c) Connections, Utilities and Other Rights. . . .

(d) Survey. . . .

(e) Buyer Inspection. Buyer has made a visual inspection of the property and subject to Section 1(c) above and 6 below, accepts it in its present physical condition, except: None. Buyer accepts property "as-is".

6. SELLERS WARRANTIES. In addition to warranties contained in Section C, the following items are also warranted: None.

Exceptions to the above and Section C shall be limited to the following:
None.

(R.6-9).

5. On or about June 30, 1992, the sale of the Hollywood Apartments was closed. (Para. 5 of the Complaint and para. 6 of the proposed Amended Complaint; R. 4,51).

6. At closing, the plumbing and heating systems were not in sound or in satisfactory working condition. The deficiencies in the plumbing and heating systems were of such a nature that they were not discoverable prior to closing, and included the following:

- a. Leaks existed in sewer lines within walls and under floors such that waste water and sewage ran directly into and leaked into the dirt under the lowest level of the structure, causing structural timbers to rot;
- b. Leaks existed in sewer and vent lines located in walls, some of which had been improperly patched, which allowed sewer gas into living spaces;
- c. Leaks existed in water lines and mains within walls and under the floors of the structure;
- d. Leaks existed under the lower floor of the structure in the steam heat distribution system, including the steam condensate return line, which were visible only after removal of walls and floors.

(Para. 8 of the proposed Amended Complaint and para. 7 of the Amended Complaint; R.51, 4).

7. The deficiencies were so severe that Salt Lake City has required that the entire plumbing (water and sewer) system be replaced. (Plaintiffs' proposed Amended Complaint (para. 9) and Complaint (para. 8); R.52, 5).

8. Bruce Manka understood that the language typed into Paragraph 1(e) of the EMSA meant that he would not make any further physical inspection of the property. He did not intend nor understand that the language could be construed to be a waiver of the express warranties set forth in Paragraph C of the General Provisions. It was his understanding, based upon his prior experience with the agreement, that the express warranties in Paragraph C remained a part of the EMSA unless specifically excluded in Paragraph 6 of the EMSA. Manka would not have entered into the EMSA or purchased the property had he understood that Ziter was attempting to exclude his express warranties. It was never discussed between Manka and Ziter that Ziter had any desire to exclude the express warranties contained in Paragraph C of the General Provisions. (Affidavit of Bruce Manka, para. 6; R.69).

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiff seeks a determination that:

- a) that as a matter of law, the express warranties at issue were not excluded;
- b) the trial court erred in dismissing the Complaint;
- c) the trial court's judgment should be set aside in its entirety.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The sellers expressly warranted that the plumbing and heating systems would be in satisfactory working condition at closing. It cannot be disputed that these systems were not in sound or satisfactory working condition at closing. The seller's argument that the "as is" reference in the visual inspection clause of the Earnest Money Agreement overrides all of the express warranties in the Earnest Money Agreement fails for a number of reasons. The EMSA consists of a series of representations and agreements. The "as-is" language appears only in the part of the agreement dealing with visual inspections. Even if the language were to apply beyond the paragraph dealing with visual inspections, it does not eliminate the separate, express warranties that existed for the heating and plumbing systems.

The "as is" language would apply, at most, to implied warranties and does not address or specify any express warranties as being excluded. The Earnest Money Sales Agreement contains specific language added by the parties to the agreement that none of the express warranties, including the warranties which are the subject of this action, were excluded.

The "as is" clause contained in the inspection provision is not inconsistent with the express warranties relating to the heat and plumbing systems. The "as is" clause cannot apply to those express warranties because the clause does not identify those warranties as being disclaimed.

It is also clear from the agreement itself, and the provisions added to the agreement by the parties, that none of the express warranties are excluded.

At a minimum, the language added to the agreement by the parties renders the agreement ambiguous on the issue of whether or not the express warranties survive the closing.

ARGUMENT

INTRODUCTION

In a Motion to Dismiss, all of the allegations in the Complaint are presumed to be true. More importantly, all reasonable inferences which can be drawn from those allegations are to be drawn in favor of the plaintiff. St. Benedicts Development Co. v. St. Benedicts Hospital, 811 P.2d 194 (Utah 1991).

A Motion to Dismiss should be affirmed only if it appears to a certainty that the plaintiff would not be entitled to relief under any state of facts which could be proved in support of his claims. Heiner v. S.J. Groves & Sons Co., 790 P.2d 107 (Utah App. 1990).

The issues which are presented by this appeal and by Ziter's Motion to Dismiss are issues of law, and this court is free to substitute its own judgment for that of the trial court on the issues presented. St. Benedicts Development Co., *supra*.

The Complaint alleges, and it must be accepted as true for the purposes of this appeal, that after the purchase of the apartments was closed, that Manka and Grossgold discovered that the plumbing and heating systems contained substantial defects at the time of closing, defects which could not possibly have been discovered by a physical inspection of the property because they were buried under the floors and within the walls of the structure. The defects were so

significant that Salt Lake City required that the entire plumbing system be replaced before the property could be occupied. (R.4, 5).

POINT I.

THE EXPRESS WARRANTIES WERE NEVER EXCLUDED.

Section C of the General Provisions of the EMSA provides that:

SELLER WARRANTIES. Seller warrants that . . . (c) the plumbing, heating, air conditioning and ventilating systems, electrical system, and appliances shall be sound or in satisfactory working condition at closing.

Section O of the General Provisions of the EMSA provides that:

ABROGATION. Except for express warranties made in this Agreement, execution and delivery of final closing documents shall abrogate this Agreement. (Emphasis added).

Paragraph 1.(e) of the EMSA provides as follows:

Buyer Inspection. Buyer has made a visual inspection of the property and subject to Section 1(c) above and 6 below, accepts it in its present physical condition, except: *None. Buyer accepts property "as-is"*.

(Italicized language is typed into the Agreement, emphasis added).

Paragraph 6 of the EMSA provides that:

SELLER'S WARRANTIES. In addition to warranties contained in Section C, the following items are also warranted: *None*.

Exceptions to the above and Section C shall be limited to the following: *None*.

(Emphasis added, italicized words are typed onto the form).

In the trial court, Ziter argued that the language in Paragraph 1(e) of the EMSA eliminated the express warranties in Paragraph C and, by implication, overrode the statement in Paragraph 6 of the EMSA (quoted above) including the typed in or added language that there were no exceptions to the express warranties contained in Paragraph C.

A. The EMSA covers many topics, only one of which contains a statement of "as-is". The EMSA is a four page document which covers a wide range of topics. For example:

- a) it discusses personal property and fixtures that will be included in the sale (Paragraph A);
- b) it identifies additional information to be provided by the seller prior to closing (Paragraphs F, G, H, and 4);
- c) it discusses how defaults will be handled (Paragraph N);
- d) it provides how title will pass and who pays what closing costs (Paragraphs R, S, and 3);
- e) it allows for the buyer to make physical inspections (Paragraph 1.e.);
- f) it allows the parties to make special considerations on contingencies (Paragraph 7);
- g) it contains express warranties from the seller that survive closing that the plumbing and heating systems will be in sound or satisfactory working condition at closing (Paragraphs C and O); and
- h) it provides a special paragraph for the parties to exclude the seller's express warranties (Paragraph 6).

In this EMSA, the parties agreed in writing added by them to Paragraph 6 of the EMSA, the special paragraph included in the EMSA to exclude the express warranties, that no exceptions would be made to the seller's express warranties.

The parties also agreed, that so far as the buyer's visual inspection of the property was concerned, that the buyer accepted the property without additional visual inspections, but subject to the seller's express warranties of the heating and plumbing systems. (Paragraph 1.e.) of EMSA, R.6; Affidavit of Bruce Manka, para. 6, R.69).

The defendant argued, albeit successfully in the trial court, that the use of the words "as-is" in Paragraph 1.e., which deals only with visual inspection, cuts across the other paragraphs of the EMSA, including those paragraphs that set forth the express warranties that were unquestionably breached. Even more interestingly, the defendant also claims that the "as-is" in Paragraph 1.e. overrides the express agreement of the parties in Paragraph 6 of the EMSA that there were no exceptions to the seller's warranties.

The trial court's ruling ignored the plain language of the EMSA.

B. The "as is" language does not address the express warranties in the EMSA.

Contrary to the trial court's assertion in its Minute Entry (R.140), the plaintiffs are aware of no Utah case which has held that "as is" language as used in this EMSA excludes the seller's express warranties contained within the same agreement. In Tibbitts v. Openshaw, 425 P.2d 160 (Utah 1967), the Supreme Court considered only implied warranties. In Tibbitts, a buyer counterclaimed against a seller claiming that the seller had breached implied warranties that existed in a real estate contract (not the form EMSA used here). The Real Estate Contract provided that:

It is hereby expressly understood and agreed by the parties hereto that the buyer accepts the property in its present condition and that

there are no representations, covenants, or agreements between the parties hereto with reference to said property except as herein specifically set forth or attached hereto.

No contention was made in Tibbitts that any express warranties were at issue.

The warranties which are the subject of the plaintiffs' Complaint in this transaction are express warranties that the plumbing and heating systems would be "in sound or satisfactory working condition at closing." (EMSA, Paragraph C). For purposes of this appeal, it must be assumed the express warranty was breached.

In Olmsted v. Mulder, 863 P.2d 1355, rev. den. 875 P.2d 635 (Wash. App. 1993), a Washington court looked at the identical issues before this court and concluded that "as is" language in a real estate agreement does not override express warranties contained in the same agreement. In Olmsted, supra, an "as is" clause was set forth in a handwritten addendum and stated that: "Buyers to accept property as is." The addendum did not specifically disclaim any of the pre-printed warranties, and none of the express warranties contained within the agreement were stricken. In two pre-printed paragraphs of the agreement, the seller expressly warranted that the septic system was in good working order and needed no repairs and that the system met all governmental health and construction standards, and that the well had always provided an adequate supply of water. (These same warranties exist in Paragraphs D and E of the Utah EMSA). After closing, the buyers learned that neither of these warranties were true, i.e., that the septic system did not work, did not conform with governmental health standards, and that the well did not provide adequate water. The seller claimed that the "as is" language in the

agreement was bargained for, was not ambiguous, and prevailed over any boiler plate or other fine print warranties on the back of the form agreement. The Olmsted court stated as follows:

To the extent an "as is" clause negates express or implied warranties, it operates as a disclaimer and is not favored in the law. See Hartwig Farms, Inc. v. Pacific Gamble Robinson Co., 28 Wash. App. 539, 541-42, 625 P.2d 171 (1981). Therefore, the courts have added two conditions for effectiveness: "(1) a disclaimer must be explicitly negotiated or bargained for, and (2) it must set forth with particularity the qualities and characteristics being disclaimed. . . ." (863 P.2d at 1359).

In analyzing the second condition for the effectiveness of an "as is" clause, the Washington court looked to the Uniform Commercial Code and recognized that while the UCC Article 2 does not govern matters involving real estate, that:²

UCC Article 2 provides us with some guidance on disclaimers of warranties. (at 1359).

² In Tibbitts v. Openshaw, *supra*, the Utah Supreme Court made observations virtually identical to those in Olmsted regarding the application of the UCC in interpreting disclaimers in agreements involving real property. The Utah Supreme Court stated in a footnote in Tibbitts that:

[The Uniform Commercial Code] would not apply in the instant case, but by the process of reasoning by analogy are appropriate precedence to apply in an interpretation of the contract provision.

. . .

Section 70A-2-316(3)(a), Utah Commercial Code, - not in effect at the time the instant contract was executed - provides: "Unless the circumstances indicate otherwise, all implied warranties are excluded by expressions like "as is", "with all faults" or other language which in common understanding calls the buyer's attention to the exclusion of warranties and makes it plain that there is no implied warranty.

(425 P.2d at 162).

The Washington court then looked at its §2-316(3)(a) of the UCC (which is identical to U.C.A. §70A-2-316(3)(a)) and observed that the provision does not address the effect of an "as is" clause on express (as opposed to implied) warranties.

The Olmsted court concluded that the reasoning of the UCC limiting an "as is" disclaimer to the disclaiming of implied warranties was persuasive and should be applied, by analogy, to cases involving real estate:

We interpret the "as is" clause to be consistent with the express warranties relating to the sewer system and well. It makes no reference to these express warranties, and it therefore cannot be fairly read as disclaiming them. The clause fails because it does not state with particularity the items being disclaimed. (863 P.2d 1359-1360).

The Olmsted court also rejected the seller's argument that the "as is" clause prevails over any conflicting printed clauses. The Washington court stated:

. . . His argument misses the point. Because the clause is silent as to what is being disclaimed, it does not expressly conflict with any printed clause. (863 P.2d at 1359).

The Olmsted case is virtually identical to this case. It involves a form agreement with express warranties, and the use of "as-is" language added by the parties. If anything, the facts in the case at bar are even more compelling than Olmsted because in this case the parties also added language confirming that there were no exceptions to the express warranties. (Paragraph 6 of EMSA).

In addition to the reasoning in Olmsted, other courts have refused to apply "as is" clauses in Earnest Money Agreements to latent defects not discoverable by the buyer. Wagner v.

Cutler, 757 P.2d 779 (Mont. 1988). For purposes of this appeal, because of the allegations in the Complaint, it must be assumed that the defects were latent. This rationale is even more appropriate where the "as is" language appears in the inspection clause of the EMSA, as it does here. One obvious reason for the express warranties in the EMSA is to protect the buyer from latent defects, and to protect the seller from having his property torn open as part of the inspection process. These express warranties about the plumbing and heating are so crucial to the transaction that special language has been added to the EMSA to assure that they survive the closing. (Para. O., EMSA).

C. **The added "as is" clause does not preempt the express warranties.** Inherent in the seller's argument before the District Court is the proposition that, somehow, the "as is" clause, because it was added to the printed form, supersedes all of the express warranties contained in the agreement. This argument ignores two critical facts: 1) the language appears in the inspection clause, which has nothing to do with express warranties, and 2) language was added to other portions of the agreement confirming the express warranties.

The seller's argument that the "as is" language added to Paragraph 1.e. overrides the express warranties is undermined by the language in the very paragraph in which it appears.

The paragraph states:

(e) **Buyer Inspection.** Buyer has made a visual inspection of the property and subject to Section 1(c) and 6 below, accepts it, in its present physical condition, except: *None. Buyer accepts property "as-is".*

(Italicized language typed on the form, emphasis added).

The use of "as is" is made expressly subject to the language in Paragraph 6 which states that there are no exceptions to the express warranties.

The defendant's broad interpretation of the "as is" clause is also undermined by other language added to the EMSA which states that no express warranties are being excluded. Paragraph 6 of the EMSA states:

6. SELLERS WARRANTIES.

Exceptions to the above and Section C shall be limited to the following: *None*.

(Section C contains the express warranty regarding the plumbing and heating systems. Italicized language was typed onto the form, emphasis added).

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