1995

Melvin Grossgold and Bruce Manka v. James C. Ziter : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

IV. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The parties agreed in the *Agreement* that the Property was to be sold without warranties as to the physical condition of the Property. This is evidenced by the newly added terms to the *Agreement* which provide that the "Buyer accepts property "as is" and the express terms of the *Agreement* which provide that the general warranties on the back of the *Agreement* are incorporated only unless they are not otherwise provided for in the *Agreement*. The law is settled that newly added words to a pre-printed boiler plate agreement, like the *Agreement* in this case, displace inconsistent boiler plate terms. This is especially true when the displaced terms are located on the backside of the *Agreement* in fine print, and when the *Agreement* expressly states that the warranties on the back of the *Agreement* are incorporated

only if the *Agreement* does not provide otherwise. The *Agreement* does provide otherwise and the newly added terms to the *Agreement* supersede and control inconsistent boiler plate terms located in fine print on the backside of the *Agreement*. Buyers argue that because the newly added terms are inconsistent with the boiler plate warranties on the backside of the *Agreement*, the *Agreement* is ambiguous. However, the Utah Courts have rejected Buyers suggested construction, and held that if the contract is a pre-printed form agreement, the newly added terms displace and control inconsistent pre-printed terms. Buyers argue alternatively that the terms are not inconsistent and that the words "Buyers accepts property 'as is'" may be read in harmony with the express warranties in subsection C. However, Buyers' argument is unpersuasive based on the plain meaning of the newly added terms. In addition, the other added terms to the *Agreement*, which address the poor condition of the boiler, evidence that the heating system was not warranted to be in good condition. The Seller's *Motion to Dismiss* the Buyers' *Amended Complaint* was properly granted by the Trial Court.

IV. ARGUMENT

POINT I SELLER DID NOT WARRANT THE PLUMBING OR HEATING TO THE BUYERS

Sub-Point A TYPED-IN TERMS CONTROL INCONSISTENT PRE-PRINTED TERMS IN FINE PRINT LOCATED ON THE BACKSIDE OF THE AGREEMENT

The law is well settled that written or typed-in terms on a pre-printed form contract take precedence over and control inconsistent pre-printed terms. The Utah Supreme Court applied this well accepted canon of construction in *Bank of Ephraim v. Davis*, 559 P.2d 538 (Utah 1977), wherein the high Court explained:

One will not be permitted to so fashion a contract as to mislead another, by setting forth clearly an apparent representation, induce a contrary limitation or expansion elsewhere in the instrument. Furthermore, this court has held where there is a printed form of contract, and other words are inserted, in writing or otherwise, it is to be assumed the latter take precedence over the printed matter.

Bank of Ephraim, 559 P.2d at 540 (emphasis added). *Accord Holland v. Brown*, 394 P.2d 77 (Utah 1964). The doctrine applies whether the added terms are handwritten or typed. *See Copper State Leasing Company v. Blacker Appliance & Furniture Company*, 770 P.2d 88, 91 (Utah 1988). ("We,

therefore, hold as a matter of law that the typed-in provisions on the Acceptances take precedence over the printed words in the Acceptance.") *Holland v. Brown*, 394 P.2d 77 (Utah 1964). The doctrine is especially applicable in cases such as this where the inconsistent language is in fine print on the backside of the pre-printed *Agreement*.

Sub-Point B
THE AGREEMENT UNAMBIGUOUSLY PROVIDES
THAT THE PROPERTY WAS SOLD "AS IS"

In *Tibbitts v. Openshaw*, 425 P.2d 160 (Utah 1980), the Utah Supreme Court affirmed a decision by Judge Wahlquist that the sale of real property is subject to any contract language disclaiming warranties through an agreement that the property is sold "as is".¹

Similarly, the Utah Uniform Commercial Code also allows the use of the words "as is" to disclaim implied warranties arising through the sale of goods.

The Utah Uniform Commercial Code provides:

Notwithstanding Subsection (2) (a) unless the circumstances indicate otherwise, all implied warranties are excluded by

¹The interpretation of the unambiguous words of a contract is a question of law for the Court. See *Copper State Leasing Company v. Blacker Appliance & Furniture Company*, 770 P.2d 88, 90 (Utah 1988) citing *Kimball v. Campbell*, 699 P.2d 714 (Utah 1985).

expressions like "as is, "with all faults" or other language which in common understanding calls the buyer's attention to the exclusion of warranties and makes plain that there is no implied warranty.

Utah Code Ann. § 70A-2-316(3)(a).

In the present case, the *Agreement* unambiguously and expressly provides that the Property was sold "as is". (See *Agreement*, paragraph 1(d)). The "as is" language was typed on the blank line following the paragraph on inspections. The added words "Buyer accepts Property 'as is'" disclaims the standard warranties provided for in fine print on the backside of the *Agreement* for several reasons. First, the added terms of the *Agreement* unambiguously disclose the intent of the parties that the Property was sold in its present condition without warranties. Paragraph 1(e) of the *Agreement* provides in relevant part:

Buyer inspection. Buyer has made a visual inspection of the property and subject to Section 1(c) above and 6 below, accepts it in the present physical condition, except: None. Buyers accepts Property "as-is".

Agreement, paragraph 1(e)(Record at 006).

Second, in correlation to the foregoing disclaimer, paragraph 6 of the *Agreement* also provides as follows:

**SELLERS WARRANTIES. In addition to warranties contained in Section C,
the following items are also warranted: None.**

Earnest Money Agreement, paragraph 6 (Record at 007).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, Buyers argue that the "as is" language was ineffective because it was added to the *Agreement* under paragraph 1(e). Buyers' argument is unpersuasive. The *Agreement* clearly shows that paragraph 1(e) expressly deals with the inspection and physical condition of the Property, and that it is the first and most logical place on the *Agreement* where the disclaimer terms should have been added.

Buyers also cite part of paragraph 6 and argue that by placing the word, "None." next to the line entitled "Seller Warranties" that the Seller intended to warrant the heating and plumbing. However, a review of the entire paragraph, evidences the contrary. Paragraph 6 provides as follows:

**SELLERS WARRANTIES. In addition to warranties contained in Section C,
the following items are also warranted: None.**

Exceptions to the above and Section C shall be limited to the following: None.
Agreement, paragraph 6 (Record at 007).

Buyers argue that the Supreme Court's decision in *Tibbitts* applies only to implied warranties and that express warranties can never be disclaimed. However, Buyers ignore the fact that the *Agreement* was a pre-printed form and that newly added terms displace inconsistent terms thereon. *Bank of Ephraim v. Davis*, 559 P.2d 538 (Utah 1977)("this court has held where there is a printed form of contract, and other words are inserted, in writing or otherwise, it is to be assumed the latter take precedence over the printed matter."); *Copper State Leasing Company v. Blacker Appliance & Furniture Company*, 770 P.2d 88, 91 (Utah 1988). ("We, therefore, hold as a matter of law that the typed-in provisions on the Acceptances take precedence over the printed words in the Acceptance."). In addition, the boiler plate warranty terms located on the backside of the *Agreement* are not incorporated into the *Agreement* because they are otherwise provided for in paragraph 6 which provides in part, "Buyer accepts property "as is". (*Agreement*, paragraph 11; Record at 007.) Moreover, this case involves a pre-printed form agreement with boiler plate language.²

²If Buyers' argument that express warranties can never be disclaimed were correct, parties to a pre-printed form agreement could never disclaim the boiler plate terms in the agreement.

Third, in addition to the foregoing disclaimers, the parties added the following terms below paragraph 12: "In consideration of the reduced down payment, Buyer agrees to install new boiler by 9/15/92." (Record at 007). Surely, no such term would have been added to the *Agreement* if the Seller had warranted the heating system was in good condition as suggested by the Buyers.

Sub-Point C
BUYERS' CASE AUTHORITY DOES
NOT SUPPORT REVERSAL OF THE TRIAL COURT

Buyers cite to *Olmsted v. Mulder*, 72 Wash.App. 169, 863 P.2d 1355 (1993), which is a decision by a Washington State appellate court. The decision was not cited or argued before the Trial Court. (See Record 095-105). More importantly, *Olmsted* is not controlling authority in Utah and is inconsistent with the decisions written by the Utah Courts which hold that warranties may be disclaimed by the use of the words "as is" without delineating the warranties disclaimed, See *Tibbitts v. Openshaw*, 425 P.2d 160 (Utah 1980), and that newly added terms to a pre-printed form agreement displace inconsistent pre-printed terms thereon. See *Bank of Ephraim v. Davis*, 559 P.2d 538 (Utah 1977); *Holland v. Brown*, 394 P.2d 77 (Utah 1964).

In *Olmsted*, the seller sold his residential property knowing that the well water was contaminated and dangerous to life. After having been informed that the well was contaminated, the seller signed a "Single Family Residence Property Information Form" wherein he warranted that the well provided an adequate supply of water to the property.³ The buyer relied on the "Single Family Residence Property Information Form" in purchasing the property. In addition, the "as is" terms were added to the addendum of the agreement by a real estate agent other than the agent representing the seller.

The facts in the present case are clearly and completely distinguishable from those in *Olmsted* for several reasons: First, the Property sold in this case is commercial not residential. As such, the duty to investigate the condition of the Property fell on the Buyers under the doctrine of *caveat emptor*. (See *Utah State Association v. Utah State Employees Credit Union*, 655 P.2d 643, 645-46 (Utah 1982); See also Seller's legal argument on *caveat emptor* in the Record at

³"Alvin Mulder admitted that Tarquinio told him that he suspected the water was contaminated. However, Mulder took no steps to investigate whether the water was contaminated prior to selling the property to the Olmsteds. Before closing the sale, Mulder filled out a Form 17 "Single Family Residence Property Information From", where he indicated that to the best of his knowledge the well provided an adequate year round supply of water." *Olmsted*, 863 P.2d at 1355.

037-38.) Second, the parties to the *Agreement* were real estate agents who were fully aware of the use of the terms "Buyer accepts property 'as is'" to disclaim warranties. Third, the "as is" terms were on the main page of the *Agreement* under the section dealing with the condition of the Property, rather than a subsequent addendum to the *Agreement*. Fourth, there was no "Single Family Residence Property Information Form" or other collateral document signed by Seller which expressly represented that the heating and plumbing systems were in good condition. In sum, the facts in *Olmsted* are quite different than those in this case, and the Buyer's reliance on *Olmsted* is misplaced.

Buyers' reliance on *Wagner v. Cutler*, 757 P.2d 779 (Mont. 1988) is also misplaced. In *Wagner*, the buyer recovered on grounds of misrepresentation not breach of contract. In fact, the court dismissed the alleged breach of habitability claim made by the plaintiff. In addition, the case involved the sale of residential property where express representations were made by the seller's agent to the buyer as to the condition of the subject property. In the present case, there are no claims that misrepresentations were made by Seller. *Wagner* is simply not on point.

Sub-Point D
THE EARNEST MONEY AGREEMENT SHOULD BE
INTERPRETED TO GIVE MEANING TO THE ADDED
WORDS THAT "BUYER ACCEPTS PROPERTY "AS IS"

The *Agreement* should be interpreted to give meaning to the words added on the face of the *Agreement*. The Utah Supreme Court has stated that courts are to interpret a contract so as to harmonize all of its terms and provisions, and all of its terms should be given effect if possible. *Heiner v. S.J. Groves & Sons Co.*, 790 P.2d 107, 110 (Utah 1990)(quoting *G.G.A., Inc. v. Leventis*, 773 P.2d 841, 845 (Utah App. 1989).

Notwithstanding the foregoing law, Buyers argue that the words "Buyer accepts property 'as is'" are consistent with the alleged express warranties. This is simply inaccurate. The words "Buyer accepts property 'as is'" are inconsistent with the boiler plate warranties asserted by Buyers in subsection C. If the Court accepts Buyers' strained interpretation of the *Agreement* that the words "Buyer accepts property 'as is'" do not exclude the inconsistent fine print warranties on the back of the *Agreement*, the new terms added by the parties become meaningless and redundant of subsection B which provides as follows:

B. Inspection. Unless otherwise indicated, Buyer agrees that Buyer is purchasing said property upon Buyer's own examination and judgment and not by reason of any representation made to

Buyer by seller Buyer accepts the property in "as is" condition subject to Seller's warranties as outlined in Section 6.

Agreement, General Provisions, paragraph B.

Conversely however, if the words, "Buyer accepts property 'as is'" are given their plain and ordinary interpretation, the words become effective in disclaiming the fine pre-printed warranties in subsection C thereby harmonizing with the other added terms to the *Agreement*.⁴

Sub-Point E
THE SPECIFIC TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT
EXPRESSLY PREEMPT THE GENERAL TERMS OF
THE AGREEMENT RELIED ON BY BUYERS

Section 11 of the *Agreement* expressly indicates that the general provisions set forth in the printed pages to the *Agreement* apply if the sections filled in by the parties do not provide otherwise. The section provides as follows:

11. GENERAL PROVISIONS. UNLESS OTHERWISE INDICATED ABOVE, THE GENERAL PROVISION SECTIONS ON THE REVERSE SIDE HEREOF HAVE BEEN ACCEPTED BY THE BUYER AND SELLER AND ARE INCORPORATED INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY REFERENCE.

⁴The *Agreement* should be construed as a whole, the words should be considered in construing its meaning and all of the clauses harmonize with each other, and not subvert, the general intention of the parties. 17A Am.Jur.2d *Contracts* §385.

Agreement, paragraph 11 (capitalization not added) (emphasis added)(Record at 007). As stated above, the *Agreement* expressly indicates in Section 1(d) that the Property was sold "as is". Because the words "Buyer accepts property 'as is'" are contrary to subsection C of the General Provisions, the subsection C warranties were not incorporated into the *Agreement* and do not apply.

Sub-Point F
**OTHER TERMS OF THE EARNEST MONEY AGREEMENT
MANIFEST THAT THE HEATING SYSTEM WAS IN NEED OF REPAIR**

The terms added by the parties to the *Agreement* under paragraph 12 provide that Seller would give Buyer (Manka) a \$5,000.00 discount if a new boiler was installed by 9/15/92. Surely, had the parties intended the express warranties under subsection C to apply, Seller would not have agreed to reduce the down payment by \$5,000 on the condition Manka replace the boiler. The added terms manifest that the parties considered the poor condition of the heating system before entering into the *Agreement*, which is in harmony with Seller's disclaimer of warranties.

V. CONCLUSION

The law is well settled that added terms to a pre-printed agreement control the inconsistent boiler plate terms thereon. This is especially true when

the inconsistent pre-printed terms are in fine print on the backside of the agreement. In this case, the unambiguous words added to the *Agreement* which expressly provided that the property was sold "as is" control and displace the inconsistent fine print warranties in subsection C on the backside of the *Agreement* as a matter of law.

WHEREFORE, the Order of the Trial Court dismissing Buyers' *Amended Complaint* should be affirmed as a matter of law.